


allowed for safety or operational reasons (e.g., to prevent vessels from fishing to their last
pound of allocation and increasing the likelihood of an overage). Such a policy could be
consistent with the guidelines if analysis showed that this small amount of carryover would
likely be offset by under-harvest by other participants in year 2 for the same reasons the year
1 catch was below the catch limit and, thus, would not be expected to increase the likelihood
that total catch would exceed the ACL or ABC in year 2. This small amount of carryover,
even if not expected to be offset by under-harvest by other participants in year 2, could also
be explicitly accounted for in management uncertainty when specifying ACLs so that the
ACL or ABC is not cxceeded.

To justify larger amounts of carryover where under-harvest in year 1 may result in an
appreciable increase in stock biomass in year 2, the impact of the year 1 under-harvest on the
year 2 biomass would need to be evaluated and the year 2 ABC and ACL updated, to ensure
they are not exceeded. Ideally, this could be done through an assessment update, or by re-
running the assessment model with revised catch estimates and then applying the ABC
control rule to arrive at an updated ABC recommendation and subsequent ACL for year 2.
This method is currently used in the Alaska groundfish fishery to determine the amount of
additional harvest that may be allowed in year 2 following an under-harvest in year 1.
Alternately, the ABC control rule could be revised to explicitly consider under-harvests.

This method may be timelier, if it could be done formulaically or through an abbreviated
SSC and New England Fishery Management Council (Council) process. We recognize that
some of these methods may be more feasible than others, depending on data availability and
resource and timing constraints. Therefore, the Council may want to keep in mind other
ways of achieving the same flexibility. For example, a carryover program that would rely on
regular under-harvest by other fishery components to offset carryover landings could be
achieved by redistributing the ABC to shift the unused allocation to the fishery in need of a
carryover buffer.

An additional consideration is the potential for the carryover program to impact the
effectiveness of accountability measures (AM) in place for different fishery components. In
the case where an AM is triggered only when the overall ACL is exceeded, the system
already relies on under-harvest by some fishery components to offset over-harvest by others.
Thus, unless there is still a net under-harvest of the ACL, there would be no additional
biomass in year 2 to account for carryover by the under-harvesting component.

(2) The analysis is based on assuming an equilibrium age structure under a constant recruitment
assumption. Many multispecies stocks are at low levels of abundance and in rebuilding
programs, and recruitment is often highly variable and, for some stocks, recent recruitment
is at low levels. How do these deviations from the underlying assumptions affect the amounts
of permissible carryover?

Whatever method is used, the amount of carryover allowed must be based on the best
available information regarding the expected impact of the year-1 under-harvest on the
stock’s biomass in year 2. As you correctly point out, this may require taking into account a
number of factors, such as stock characteristics (e.g., natural mortality), uncertainty in the
assessment model or other method used to set catch advice, and trends in stock indicators






vessels would carryover the full 15%. Recognizing that the IFQ carryover provision has only
been in place since fishing year 2011, it would be beneficial for the Council to gain more
information in order to see if the amount of carryover varies widely from year to year. However,
we recommend that the Council consider establishing a management uncertainty buffer to
account for carryover in the scallop IFQ fishery as it has done with the limited access fishery.

Regarding the NE multispecies fishery Annual Catch Entitlement (ACE) carryover program for
sectors, it does not appear that this potential additional catch was taken into account in
establishing management uncertainty buffers for the commercial groundfish or sector sub-ACLs
in Amendment 16 to the NE Multispecies FMP or subsequent framework adjustments. Given
the large participation in sectors in the last 2 years, the allowable carryover can be a large portion
of the ABC, particularly when the ABC declines from year 1 to year 2. If caught, this amount of
carryover risks exceeding groundfish ACLs and sub-ACLs and potentially triggering an AM for
the sector that fished its carryover. We do not think this was the Council’s intent, but it is not
clear from the regulations or Amendment 16 how else overages of the sector sub-ACL or total
ACL due to sector carryover should be handled. Therefore, we recommend the Council review
and clarify the existing sector carryover program, in order to ensure it is consistent with the NS
guidelines and the FMP, In the meantime, we are currently monitoring catch of a sector’s
carryover separately from catch toward an ACL, to ensure sectors are not unfairly penalized for
using their allowable carryover.

The DAS catryover program for the NE multispecies common pool fishery does not appear to
have the same issues. Although it is not clear whether carryover DAS were explicitly taken into
account in the management uncertainty buffers, trimester TACs and the Regional
Administrator’s inseason authority greatly reduce the likelihood that this particular measure will
cause a common pool sub-ACL to be exceeded.

My staff will be available to provide support and further guidance as the Council addresses this
topic in the coming months. If you have any further questions regarding this letter, please
contact Melissa Vasquez at the Sustainable Fisheries Division at (978) 281-9166.

Sincerely,

( ;;es S. Morris

Acting Regional Administrator



